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David M.F. Lambert, Washington, D.C., for plaintiff.

Jeffrey A. Belkin, with whom were on the briefs David W. Ogden, Acting Assistant
Attorney General, David M. Cohen, Director,and Donald E. Kinner, Assistant Director, Commercial
Litigation Branch, Civil Division, United States Department of Justice, Washington, D.C., for
defendant.

OPINION
SMITH, Senior Judge.

This government contract case is before the Court on defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.
Plaintiff, D.V. Gonzalez Electric & General Contractors, Inc. (“GEGC”) seeks compensation for
expenses arising from the breach of alleged express, implied-in-fact, and implied-in-law contracts
with the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (“VA”) to replace the fire alarm system at the VA
Medical Campus (“VAMC”) facility in Canandaigua, New Y ork. Defendant moved to dismissthe
Complaint aleging lack of jurisdiction and failure to state a claim under Rules of the Court of
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Federal Claims (“RCFC”) 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6), respectively. Based on the briefs filed and oral
argument held in this case, the Court finds that jurisdiction islacking with regard to the plaintiff’s
negligent misrepresentation and implied-in-law contract claims, and that GEGC' sremaining counts
fail to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. Accordingly, the Court GRANTS the
defendant’ s Motion to Dismiss.

FACTS

Thisdispute arises from plaintiff’s contract with the VA to replacethe fire alarm systemin
nineteen (19) buildings at the VAMC facility in Canandaigua, New Y ork (“VAMC project”). In
preparation for the solicitation of the VAMC project, the VA awarded an Architectural &
Engineering (*A&E") design and technical services contract to Robson & Woese, Inc. (* Robson™)
on January 24, 1994. The scope and price of the A& E contract was scaled back several times to
conform to the VA’s alotted funds. The A&E contract stipulated that the VA would provide
Robson with on-site survey information and drawings suitable for the VAMC project design. The
contract alsoincluded a“ Design Within Funding Limitations” clause, and an estimated construction
contract price of $605,000.

In November of 1994, the VA notified the Small Business Administration (*SBA™) that the
contract at issuewaseligiblefor aset-aside under the SBA’ s Section 8(a) program with an estimated
cost between $500,000 and $1,000,000. The A& E contract was completed in early June of 1995,
and estimated the cost of the VAMC project to be $771,690. The VA adopted the A& E estimate
asitsproject cost estimate and established afair market price of $900,000 for the fire alarm system
project. On June 30, 1995, final solicitation specifications and drawings were forwarded to GEGC
and the SBA. On July 25, 1995, GEGC submitted its first detailed cost proposal to the VA in an
amount totaling $1,369,418. Over the next several days, GEGC and the VA discussed variances
between the estimates and negotiated reductions in the scale and scope of the project. On August
1, 1995, GEGC submitted its best and final offer in the amount of $900,000.

Also on August 1, 1995, the VA requested the Defense Contract Audit Agency to perform
an audit of GEGC' sproposal. TheV A awarded the contract to plaintiff on August 23, 1995, subject
to apossible price adjustment based on theaudit. On September 27, 1995, the contract was modified
via a supplemental agreement to $859,086 resulting from the audit. The final contract required
GEGC to “[p]rovide all labor, material and equipment, and perform all work to replace fire alarm
sysemsat the VA Medical Center, Canandaigua, New Y ork, in accordance with VA Drawings and
Specifications.” Thecontractinitially called for completion within 700 daysfrom the government’ s
Notice to Proceed on October 11, 1995. GEGC began work at the VAMC facility in January of
1996. Due to unexpected delays, GEGC requested and received several time extensions, and the
project was completed in 901 days, on April 15, 1998.

OnMarch 20, 1997, GEGC submitted aformal request for an equitable adjustment (“REA”),
alleging adiffering site condition, mutual mistake, and superior knowledge claims. The REA was
based upon site congestion encountered by GEGC in various forms which plaintiff claims caused



substantial delays and increased its cost of performance. OnMay 5, 1997, the Contracting Officer
informed GEGC that the REA lacked sufficient justification. Over nine months later, on February
18, 1999, GEGC converted its REA to a certified claim of $390,412 pursuant to the Contract
Disputes Act of 1978. The Contracting Officer issued his find decision denying plaintiff’s claim
onMarch 16, 1999. TheV eterans Administration Board of Contract Appeds(“VABCA”) dismissed
thismatter on July 14, 1999, for lack of jurisdiction. Plaintiff filed the instant case with this Court
on December 13, 1999.

Plaintiff’s Complaint sets forth eight counts, which can be categorized into three primary
groups. Countsl-V (Breach of Implied Contract, Superior Knowledge, Negligent Misrepresentation,
and Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing), Counts VI & VII (Invalidation of the
Express Contract), and Count VIII (Mutual Mistake). The alegation tying all of these counts
together is GEGC' s claim that the government’ s contract estimate was procured illegally and was
inaccurate with respect to the impact of site congestion. GEGC claims that as a result of the
government’s unlawful conduct it suffered $478,677" in cost over-runs.

DISCUSSION
I. JURISDICTION

The Tucker Act provides the Court with jurisdiction over claims against the United States
founded either upon the Constitution, an Act of Congress, aregulation of an executive department,
or upon an expressor implied contract withthe United States. 28U.S.C. 8§ 1491(a)(1) (2002); Gould
v. United States, 67 F.3d 925, 928 (Fed. Cir. 1995). “The party invoking jurisdiction hasthe burden
to show compliance with the Tucker Act.” Trauma Serv. Group v. United States, 104 F.3d 1321,
1324 (Fed. Cir. 1997).

In the instant case, plaintiff bases its jurisdictional claim on the Contract Disputes Act of
1978, as amended, 41 U.S.C. 88 601-613 (2002); and 28 U.S.C. 88 1491(a) & (b)(2) (2002), as
amended. Under the Tucker Act thisCourt’ s contract-based jurisdiction “extends only to contracts
either expressorimpliedinfact, andnot toclamsimpliedinlaw.” Trauma Serv., 104 F.3d at 1324.
Asaresult of the dismissal of plaintiff’s appeal by the VABCA, this Court has jurisdiction to hear
the express and implied-in-fact contract claims. 41 U.S.C. 609(a)(1) (2002). Haintiff has also
indirectly alleged that the government breached an implied-in-law contract. It iswell established,
however, that this Court does not have jurisdiction over implied-in-law contracts. Hercules Inc. v.
United States, 516 U.S. 417, 423-24 (1996).

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Thegovernment hasmoved to dismissthismaiter for either lack of subject matter jurisdiction

! Damages represent $390,412 plusinterest.
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pursuant to RCFC 12(b)(1), or for failureto state aclaim upon whichrelief may be granted pursuant
to RCFC 12(b)(4).? RCFC 12(b)(1) providesfor dismissal of aclaimbased ona"lack of jurisdiction
over the subject matter." Whether a court possesses subject matter jurisdiction depends upon the
"court's general power to adjudicate in specific areas of substantivelaw." Palmer v. United States,
168 F.3d 1310, 1313 (Fed. Cir. 1999). The burden of establishing jurisdiction is on the plaintiff.
Buesing v. United States, 42 Fed. Cl. 679, 685 (1999). Alternatively, RCFC 12(b)(6) providesfor
dismissal based on the "failure to state aclaim upon which relief can be granted.” In ruling upon a
motion to dismiss, a court must grant the motion "when the facts asserted by the plaintiff do not
under the law entitle him to aremedy.” Boyle v. United States, 200 F.3d 1369, 1372 (Fed. Cir.
2000). In ruling on both types of motions, the court must accept all well pled factual allegationsas
true and draw all reasonable inferencesin favor of the non-movant. /d. at 684.

III. MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM

Thisconflict centersaround GEGC' sallegationsthat the express contract isinvalid because
the agreed upon contract price was influenced by unlawful government acts. Specifically, GEGC
contends that the contracting officer illegally procured the A& E estimate and then failed to follow
applicable regulations when negotiating the contract price for the VAMC project. The defendant,
however, contends that GEGC has no legal right to rely upon an estimate, whether negligent or
illegd, that isnot incorporated explicitly into either the solicitation or the contract. Furthermore, the
government argues that the regulations relied on by GEGC exist primarily for the benefit of the
government, and therefore do not create an independent right of action for the plaintiff.

Thereisno disputethat GEGC freely and voluntarily entered the contract, nor any allegation
that the defendant breached the contract during the contract term. Tothe contrary, therecord reveals
that the government accommodated GEGC’ sneeds during performanceby granting time extensions
and approving small obligation increases. Inaddition, GEGC previously completed thirty-one (31)
smaller contracts for the VA, and therefore was familiar with site congestion and workplace
conditions. The Complaint setsforth anumber of allegationswhich the Court believeswill resolve
themselvesmore clearly uponinitially addressing plaintiff’s claim that the express contract iseither
void or voidable. Therefore, we begin by analyzing the validity of the express contract to determine
if it supercedes GEGC' simplied-in-fact contract claims.

A. Invalidation of the Express Contract

In Counts VI and VII, GEGC alleges that the express contract is either void or voidablefor
three possible reasons: (1) the government relied upon anillegal price estimate and failed to follow
applicable procurement regulations in negotiating reductions in the contract price; (2) the law
required the contract to be priced based upon GEGC' s costs plus afee rather than afixed price; or

2 RCFC 12(b)(4) was redesignated RCFC 12(b)(6) under the revised rules of the U.S.
Court of Federal Claims, effective May 1, 2002.
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(3) the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C. § 1341 (2002), compelled the government to force GEGC
toreduceitscontract pricetostay withinthe appropriated funds. Taken together, thesethreegrounds
amount to the allegation that the agreed upon contract price was diminished by severa unlawful
government acts. Under such circumstances, a contractor may seek reformation of its price term,
even after performance is completed. LaBarge Prods. v. West, 46 F.3d 1547, 1552-53 (Fed. Cir.
1995). Specifically, “if government officials make a contract they are not authorized to make, in
violation of alaw enacted for the contractor’ s protection, the contractor is not bound by estoppel,
acquiescence or faillure to protest.” Id. a 1552. The Court will address each clam separatdy.

1. Statutory and Regulatory Violations by Contracting Officer

GEGC's primary argument is that the government engaged in misrepresentations and
violationsof procurement law that unlawfully decreased GEGC' sinitial offer tofall withinanillegal
estimate that the government believed to be the appropriate price for the VAMC project. First,
plaintiff allegesthat the A& E contract, from which the government estimated the fair market price
for the project, was procured in violation of thelaw. GEGC clamsthat theuse of the A& E estimate
to derive the government’s fair market price adversely influenced the contract negotiations and
produced a defective contract price term. Second, plaintiff alleges that the contracting officer’s
failure to comply with several Section 8(a) procurement requirements during the contract
negotiations resulted in aflawed price term for the contract. Specifically, plaintiff claims Federal
Acquisition Regulation (“FAR”) 8§ 19.806 and Veterans Administration Acquisition Regulation
("“VAAR”) § 819.806 required the VA and the SBA to investigate and resolve any disparities
between GEGC' soffered price, thegovernment’ sestimated fair market price, andthe A& E estimate.
Plaintiff assertsthat any discrepancy between GEGC' sinitial offer and the government’ sestimated
fair market pricerequired apre-award audit under FAR 8§ 15.805-5. Thefailureto conduct thisaudit,
coupled with the government’s repeated references to the alegedly illegal estimate, compelled
GEGC toreduceitsoffer to meet the government’ sestimated fair market price. Inaddition, plaintiff
claimsthat the government’ sfailureto collaboratewith the SBA in the event of disparities between
the offered price and the fair market price, forfeited the SBA’ s option of funding the difference and
negatively influenced GEGC's decision to accept the contract.

In order for GEGC to maintain a suit against the government for violation of aregulation,
that regulation must exist for the benefit of the private contractor. Freightliner Corp. v. Caldera,
225 F.3d 1361, 1365 (Fed. Cir. 2000) (citing Cessna Aircraft v. Dalton, 126 F.3d 1442, 1451 (Fed.
Cir. 1997); Rough Diamond v. United States, 351 F.2d 636, 640-42, 173 Ct. Cl. 15 (1965)).
Furthermore, “if the primary intended beneficiary of a statute or regulation is the government, then
a private party cannot complain about the government’s falure to comply with that statute or
regulation, even if that party derives some incidental benefit from compliance with it.” Cessna
Aircraft, 126 F.3d at 1451-52. In assessing whether aregulation confers acause of action upon the
private contractor, the Court must examine each regulation independently. Freightliner, 225 F.3d
at 1365. In Freightliner, the Federal Circuit analyzed two regulations, FAR 8§ 17.207 and Defense
Acquisition Regulation § 1-1502(e), and determined that they operated as internal operating and
accounting procedures that existed primarily for the benefit of the government, not the privae
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contractor. Id. at 1365-66. In short, the regulations existed “. . . to ensure that the [contracting
officer] acts in the best interest of the government;” and were “. . . designed to prevent the
Government from overspending . . . .” Id. at 1366. Thus, the Court will examine each alleged
statutory or regulatory violation to determine if they werefor the benefit of the government or the
plaintiff.

GEGC' sfirst argument for invalidation of the express contract isthat the A& E estimate was
procured in violation of procurement regulations. Specifically, plaintiff arguesthat after awarding
the A& E contract, the government reduced the scope of work under the A& E contract by eliminating
requirementsto verify site conditionsand to devel op specific siteconditionsdata. Plaintiff contends
that these contract reductions adversely affected the A& E estimate, which in turn, underestimated
the government’ sfair market price. See 15 U.S.C. 637(a)(3)(B)(ii) (2002) (stating an “ estimate of
acurrent fair market price. . . shall be derived from a price or cost analysis.”). The government
initially responds that even if the A&E contract were procured illegally, GEGC lacks the standing
to challenge the “price or cost analysis’, i.e., the A&E contract. See 31 U.S.C. § 3551(2) (2002)
(defining “interested party” asan . . . actual or prospective bidder or offeror whose direct economic
interest would be affected by the award of the contract or the falure to award the contract.”).
Furthermore, the defendant argues that under Cessna and Freightliner, the statute at issueisfor the
benefit of the government and GEGC is not entitled to rely onthe A& E estimate to sustain acause
of action.

While the Court agreesthat GEGC'’ s standing to challenge the A&E contract is tenuous, it
does not need to reach that question because the statute and applicable legislative history make it
clear that the government isthe primary beneficiary of the digputed statute. First, theoverall purpose
of estimating afair market pricein a Section 8(a) contract is to protect the government from over-
payingfor asole-source, setasidecontract. See 15U.S.C. 637(a)(1)(A) (2002) (stating “[A] contract
may not be awarded . . . if the award of the contract would result in a cost to the awarding agency
whichexceedsafair market price.”). Second, thegovernment isprohibited by statutefromrevealing
the estimate, or any supporting information, of the fair market price to any potential offeror. /d. at
8637(a)(3)(C). Finaly, thelegidlativehistory demonstratesthat under no circumstancesshould such
confidential business information be disclosed to apotentid offeror. H.R. Conf. Rep. 100-1070,
100" Cong., 2d Sess., 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5401, 5500 (Oct. 7, 1988). Based upon the Federal
Circuit’s reasoning in Freightliner, it appears to this Court that the regulations governing the
estimate of the government’s fair market price in a Section 8(a) contract are internal operating
procedures and exist primarily for the benefit of the government. Therefore, GEGC may not
maintain a cause of action based on 15 U.S.C. 637(a)(3)(B)(ii).?

3Even if GEGC could have rdied on the government’s A& E estimate, they have failed to
present the Court with any authority to support their theory of reasonable reliance. The plaintiff
argues that a bidder who acts reasonably “is entitled to rely on Government estimates as
representing honest and informed conclusions [and the Government] is obliged to base that
estimate on all relevant information that is reasonably availabletoit.” D.F.K Enters., Inc. v.
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Plaintiff’s second argument for voiding the express contract is that the statutory and
regulatory scheme of the Section 8(a) program is designed to resolve discrepancies between the
offered price and the estimated fair market pricein favor of the8(a) contractor. Specificaly, GEGC
relies on VAAR § 819.800(d), which states that contracting officers “will request an audit in
accordancewith § 815.805-5 on proposalsin excess of $500,000 before negotiating any contract or
modification.” The plaintiff also arguesthat the government violated VAAR § 819.806 by failing
toinvestigate and resolveany disparitiesbetween GEGC'’ soffered price, thegovernment’ sestimated
fair market price, andthe A& E estimate. GEGC claimsthat these proceduresareintended to prevent
theaward of contractsto a Section 8(a) contractor that are underpriced, and to provide both the SBA
and the contractor a chance to reevaluate the offered price and make an informed decision as to
whether to enter the contract. In effect, plaintiff arguesthat these regulations are an additional line
of mandated program protections for Section 8(a) contractors.

The Court agrees with GEGC that the overall purpose of the Section 8(a) programisto aid,
assist, and counsel small-business concerns in contracting with the government to preserve and
promote the free enterprise system. 15 U.S.C. § 631(a) (2002). The assistance, however, is not
absolute, and the government has promul gated saf eguardsto ensure that contractsare awarded in an
efficient and cost-effective manner. For instance, plaintiff’s claim that the government violated
VAAR 8§ 819.900(d) by failing to perform a pre-award audit is unavailing, because as VAAR 8§
15.805-5(c)(1) statesan audit should not berequested when “information availableto the contracting
officer is considered adequate to determine the reasonabl eness of the proposed cost or price.” The
language of the regulation provides the contracting officer, not the Section 8(a) contractor or the
SBA, with the discretion asto whether or not to conduct apre-award audit. Here, after GEGC made
itsinitial offer of $1.3 million the government clarified certain specifications and eliminated the
removal of theexisting firealarm system fromthecontract.  Therefore, it does not appear that the
contracting officer violated VAAR 88 819.900(d) & 15.805-5, and even if they were violated, the
regulationsare internal operating procedures designed to protect the government from paying more
than the estimated fair market price. See Freightliner, 225 F.3d at 1365. The same reasoning |leads
usto the conclusion that the plaintiff may not rdy on aviolation of VAAR 88 819.900(d) & 15.805-
5 to maintain a cause of action.

The plaintiff’ sfinal alegation of aregulatory violation concernsthelack of aninvestigation
into the disparity between GEGC' s offered price and the estimated fair market price. As plaintiff
argues, the record does not indicate that the government “collaborated” with the SBA regarding the
difference between GEGC' sinitia offer of $1.3 million and the government’sestimated fair market
price of $900,000. See 48 C.F.R § 819.806 (2002) (stating “SBA should be informed as soon asa
disparity between the 8(a) offered price and the estimated fair market price is determined.”).

United States, 45 Fed. Cl. 280, 287 (1999) (quoting Womack v. United States, 389 F.2d 793, 801
(1968)). However, DFK Enterprises involved agovernment estimate that was expressly
incorporated in the contract. Here, GEGC does not dispute that the A& E estimate was never
included in the VAMC contract, and therefore, the arlgument is unpersuasive.

7



However, similar to VAAR § 15.805-5(c)(1), the language of the regulation appears to vest the
determination of any disparity inthe hands of the contracting officer, not the SBA or the Section 8(a)
contractor. Inthiscase, the undisputed record reveal sthat GEGC lowered itsinitial offer threetimes
to afinal offer of $900,000 on August 1, 1995. Therefore, any initial disparity was voluntarily
extinguished by GEGC, and the contracting officer was never forced to make the determination
envisioned by VAAR 8§ 819.806. Furthermore, while VAAR 8 819.806 is silent on any right
available to a Section 8(a) contractor, 15 U.S.C. 637(a)(3)(D) places the burden on the private
contractor to request the SBA to challenge an agency’ s estimate of the fair market price. See also
48 C.F.R. 88 19.806(c) & 19.810 (2002) (confirming that the only rights held by the contractor are
to request the SBA to review the estimate, and apped to the agency if necessary). Lastly, evenif the
contracting officer violated VAAR § 819.806, the regulation exists primarily for the benefit of the
government, asthe regulation servesto ensure that the award of a sole source, set-aside contract not
result in a cost that exceeds the government’s estimated fair market price. 48 C.F.R. § 19.806(b)
(2002); see also Cessna Aircraft, 126 F.3d at 1451-52 (finding that “[I]f the primary intended
beneficiary of astatute or regulation isthe Government, then a private party cannot complain about
the Government’ s failure to comply with that statute or regulation, even if that party derives some
incidental benefit from compliance with it.”).

2. Type of Contract

GEGC adlternatively asserts that the contract should be considered void because the law
required the contract to be priced upon GEGC's costs plus a fee rather than afixed price. Inthe
instant case, the solicitation specifications for the VAMC project stated that “the [G]overnment
contemplates award of a Fixed-Price Construction Contract resulting from this solicitation.” Def.
Mot. to Dismiss App. A at 12 (citing 48 C.F.R. § 52.216-1 (2002) (“Type of Contract”)). In
addition, FAR § 36.207(a) makes clear that “firm-fixed price contracts generally shall be used for
construction purposes.” Asthedefendant correctly argues, the undisputed record reveal sthat GEGC
was on notice of the type of contract from the inception of the project. In addition, plaintiff failed
to cite to any specific authority to support its claim that the law reguired the contract to be awarded
as a costs plus fee contract. Therefore, the Court bdieves GEGC waived its initia ground for
invalidation of the express contract when it knowingly entered into the sole source contract. PCL
Constr. Servs., Inc. v. United States, 41 Fed. Cl. 242, 262-63 (1998) (stating “ plaintiff failedto raise
its objection prior to award of the contract, despite an opportunity to do so. Any objection to the
choice of contract type should have been raised prior to submission of bids, and, certainly, prior to
contract completion.”).

3. Violation of the Anti-Deficiency Act

Lastly, GEGC alleges that the government violated the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C.



§1341* by forcing GEGC to reduceits pri ce duri ng negoti ati onsto remain within appropriated funds.
Whiletheapplicability of the Anti-Deficiency Act to plantiff’ sclaimisquestionabl e, the Court does
not need to reach that question because the undisputed facts revea that GEGC was given notice
during the solicitation processthat “funds are not presently available for this contract” and that the
“[G]overnment’ s obligation under this contract is contingent upon the availability of appropriated
funds.” Def. Mot. to Dismiss App. A at 12 (citing 48 C.F.R. § 52.232-18 (2002) (“Availability of
Funds’)). Therefore, plaintiff waived any objection to the procurement deviation when it knowingly
entered into the contract without formally objectingto the procurement deviation. See PCL Constr.,
41 Fed. Cl at 252 (stating “[U]se of the ‘ subject to the availability of funds dausein question was
apparent on the face of the solicitation, so that any objections. . . to the use of the clause or failure
to follow FAR administrative procedures should have been raised prior to the submission of bids.
Absent timely objection, the issue is waived.”). The Court also notes that GEGC failed to
demonstrate any harm associated with this alleged violation as they received the full contract price.
Therefore, plaintiff doesnot, and could not, contend that it expected to be paid more than the agreed
contract value, or that it would not have proceeded if it had known that alarger amount would not
be available. Plaintiff’s position, not the government’s actual conduct, would violate the Anti-
Deficiency Act.

For thereasons stated above, the Court findsthe express contract between GEGC andthe VA
to bevalid and enforceable. The plaintiff hasfailed to allege a set of facts tha taken as true would
entitleit to relief under the law. Therefore, defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Counts VI and VI for
failure to state a claim is granted.

B. Implied-in-Fact Contract and Quantum Meruit Relief

Countsl, I1l, and V of the Complaint seek quantum meruit relief for breach of animplied-in-
fact contract. GEGC argues that the government’ s unlawful acts invalidated the express contract,
in whole or in part, and they are entitled to recovery where the invalid contracts terms are implied
and reformationispermitted to correct theillegal terms. The government respondsthat theimplied-
in-fact contract claims should be dismissed as amatter of law because the express contractisvalid
and covers the same subject matter as the alleged implied-in-fact contract.

The Court of Federal Claimsexplained in Medina Construction that “it is well established
that an implied-in-fact contract cannot exist if an express contract already covers the same subject

*In pertinent part, § 1341 provides that:
An officer or employee of the United States Government . . . may not
(A) make or authorize expenditure or obligation exceeding amount available in
appropriation or fund for the expenditure or obligation;
(B) involve [the] government in a contract or obligation for the payment of money
before appropriation is made unless authorized by law.

31 U.S.C. §1341 (A)-(B) (1983).



matter, unless the implied contract is entirely unrelated to the express contract.” Medina Constr.,
Inc. v. United States, 43 Fed. Cl. 537, 558 (1999). See, e.g., Trauma Serv. Group v. United States,
104 F.3d 1321, 1326 (Fed. Cir. 1997) (discussing definition of implied-in-fact contract); Atlas Corp.
v. United States, 895 F.2d 745, 754 (Fed. Cir.1990) (explaining elementsof implied-in-fact contract).
In this case, GEGC has not alleged that the implied-in-fact contract claims cover different subject
matter than the express contract. GEGC argues instead that an implied-in-fact contract may exist
wherethe express contract hasbeen found in violation of thelaw. See, e.g., Beta Sys., Inc. v. United
States, 838 F.2d 1179, 1185-86 (Fed. Cir. 1988); Gold Line Refining Ltd. v. United States, 43 Fed.
Cl. 291, 295-96 (1999). Therefore, plaintiff’s implied-in-fact contract claims may only survive if
Counts VI and VII survive the motion to dismiss. As the Court found in Part I1l.A., the express
contract between GEGC and the government was not void or voidable. Therefore, an express
contract remains and plaintiff’s implied-in-fact contract theory fails to set forth an allegation that
would entitle it to relief. Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the implied-in-fact contract claims in
Counts |, I1l, and V for falure to state aclaim is granted.

C. Superior Knowledge

In Countsllil and V, plaintiff also allegesthat the government possessed superior knowledge
as to the degree of congestion and traffic at the VAMC and the inaccuracy of the government’s
estimate. TheFederal Circuit hasenumerated thenecessary elementsfor asuperior knowledgeclam
as follows: “(1) a contractor undertakes to perform without vital knowledge of a fact that affects
performance costs or duration; (2) the government was aware the contractor had no knowledge of
and had no reason to obtain such information; (3) any contract specification supplied misled the
contractor, or did not put it on noticeto inquire; and (4) the government failed to providetherel evant
information.” Petrochem Servs., Inc. v. United States, 837 F.2d 1076, 1079 (Fed. Cir. 1988). A
plaintiff must prove all four of these elements to prevail on a superior knowledge claim.

First, plaintiff alleges that it was not provided with information on congestion or traffic at
theVAMC, and thelack of theinformation affected itsperformance. Whilethedegree of congestion
and traffic at the VAMC may have been vital to the performance of the contract, the Court does not
need to reach that question because the undisputed record indicates that the contractor was placed
on notice to inquire as to the alleged vital information. First, plaintiff concedes that it possessed
substantial prior experience in the very buildings in which it was going to perform the contract.
GEGC aso admits that it based its bid upon the solicitation and its own site investigation.
Moreover, areview of the contract provisions clearly placed the burden upon plaintiff not only to
conduct itsown site investigation, but to do so in afashion that would take into account the contract
requirement that VAMC traffic not be impeded. Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss App. at 79, 103, 105-07;
see also 48 C.F.R. 88 52.215-13(a) & 52.236-3(a)-(b) (2002) (stating that bidders are to acquaint
themselves with work conditions, and that the government assumes no responsibility for any
conclusions made by the contractor based on government information). Plaintiff does not dispute
that the solicitation itself, as well as the contract, placed the burden of examining the drawings,
specifications, schedule, and all instructionson the contractor. Therefore, plaintiff’sinitial superior
knowledge claim failsto allege a set of facts that would entitle him to relief.
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Second, plaintiff alleges that the government possessed superior knowledge and withheld
information that the government estimate was flaved. Specifically, GEGC alleges that the
government intentionaly limited the A& E contractor’ s scope of work by reducing theforty (40) site
analysisand failing to provide the necessary data. Thefailureto provide the appropriate datato the
A& E contractor allegedly directly affected GEGC by increasing performancecostsunder theVAMC
project. The defendant counters that GEGC is not entitled to rely upon an estimate not included in
the contract, nor an estimate that was procured for the benefit of the government. Even assuming
plaintiff’s allegations are true, Part I11.A. demonstrates that the government estimate was for the
benefit of the government and GEGC was not entitled to rely upon such information. Again, the
Court is not required to reach the question of whether the government estimate amounted to vital
knowl edge that affected plaintiff’s performance. Thisisso because the government cannot beheld
to havefailed to provideinformation when it had no duty to providethat information. Accordingly,
plaintiff’s second basisfor asuperior knowledge claim against the government failsto set forth aset
of facts that would entitle GEGC to relief. The Court therefore finds this as an additional basis to
grant defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Counts |11 and V for falure to state a claim.

D. Breach of Covenant of Good Fath and Fair Dealing

In Count Il, plantiff alleges that the government acted in bad faith in the contract
negotiations by failing to provide plaintiff with accurate and complete information. Specificdly,
plaintiff claims that “the government’s actions were intended to unreasonably shift the risk of
performance on GEGC for the increased cost of labor, material and unreasonable extension of the
completion date beyond the accelerated date approved by the VACO.” Compl. § 121. The
government argues that Count 11 should be dismissed for failure to state a claim because plaintiff
could not reasonably haverelied upon agovernment estimate that wasneither part of the solicitation
nor the contract.

Theobligation of good faith and fair deding isan implied covenant in every contract. Asco-
Falcon Il Shipping Co. v. United States, 32 Fed. Cl. 595, 604 (1994). Plaintiff correctly points out
that the government must deal fairly with the public and perform its duties under the contract
reasonably and in good faith. See 48 C.F.R. 8§ 1.102-2(c) (2002). There is, however, a general
presumption that government officials act conscientioudy and in good faith, and to overcome the
presumption contractors must submit “well-nigh irrefragableproof” of bad faith. Schweiger Constr.
Co. v. United States, 49 Fed. Cl. 188, 199 (2001) (citing Kalvar Corp. v. United States, 211 Ct. Cl.
192, 543 F.2d 1298, 1301-02 (1976), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 830 (1977)). Courts have often equated
“well-nigh irrefragable proof” with evidence of some specific intent to injurethe plaintiff. Kalvar
Corp., 543 F.2d at 1302. Therefore, in order for Count |1 to survive defendant’ s motion to dismiss
for failureto state aclaim, plaintiff must allege factswhich if proved would constitute malice or a
specificintent to injurethe plaintiff. Asco-Falcon I, 32 Fed. Cl. at 604; see also Texas Instruments,
Inc. v. United States, 991 F.2d 760, 768 (Fed. Cir. 1993) (stating that to prevail on aclaimfor breach
of good fath and fair dealing, aplantiff must allege and prove a set of facts constituting a specific
intent to injure plaintiff on the part of a government officid).
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As evidence of the government’ s bad faith and unfar dealing, plaintiff putsforth two types
of allegaions. First, plaintiff aleges that the government negotiated in bad faith by failing to
disclose certain types of information, including the government’ s estimate, that adversely affected
plaintiff’sfinal contract offer. The government respondswith several arguments, including: (1) the
contract solicitation included provis onsplacing the burden onthe plai ntiff to examinethe drawings,
site conditions, schedule, and specifications; (2) the allegedly defective estimate was never
incorporated into the contract; and (3) the contract disclaimed the government from any pre-award
understanding reached or representation made by a government official not expressly stated in the
contract. Thus, evenif plaintiff’ sallegations could surmount clear contract languageto thecontrary,
they do not contain the necessary element of malice or specific intent to injure GEGC necessary to
overcome the presumption of good faith enjoyed by the government. See Continental Collection &
Disposal, Inc. v. United States, 29 Fed. Cl. 644, 652 (1993) (stating “[T]o demonstrate bad faith,
specific instances of the government’siill will directed toward the plaintiff must be identified.”).
Plaintiff’s allegations raise no issue of bad faith, only alegal dispute at best.

Second, plaintiff claims that the government failed to obtain legal and administrative
approvasfor regulatory deviationsprior to the award of the contract, and failed to make an equitable
adjustment during the performanceof the contract. 1n evaluating a motion to dismiss, the court will
presume factual allegations as true, but conclusory allegations without any supporting facts cannot
withstand amotion to dismiss. Asco-Falcon 11, 32 Fed. Cl. at 605. It isclear that these allegations
present merelegal conclusions, asopposed tofactual allegations, and therefore need not be accorded
the presumption of truth. In addition, as demonstrated in Part 111.A., the purpose of the estimated
fair market price and a pre-award audit are for the benefit of the government, and GEGC is not
entitled to rely upon the supporting regulations to support a claim. Lastly, even assuming the
allegations could be construed as factual and taken as true, the government cannot be found to be
acting in bad faith for failing to obtain something it was not required to do. Nothing in plaintiff’s
Complaint, even when construed in thelight most favorableto GEGC, constitutesmalice or anintent
to injure the plaintiff on the part of the government. See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS
§ 205 cmt. d (1979) (bad faith in performanceincludes evasion of the spirit of the bargain, lack of
diligence and slacking off, willful rendering of imperfect performance, abuse of a power to specify
terms, and interference with or failure to cooperatein the other party's performance). Therefore, the
Court grants defendant’ s Motion to Dismiss Count 11 for failure to state a claim.

E. Mutua Mistake

In Count VIII, plaintiff aternatively asserts that reformation on the grounds of mutual
mistakeiswarranted because the parties were mistaken about the samefact, that is* the contract was
susceptible of performance at a cost less than the fair market value of $900,000 and/or the
Government’s estimate of $771,000.” Pl.’s Opp. to Def.’s Motion to Dismiss at p. 22. A party
seeking reformation upon the ground of mutual mistake must establish that (1) the parties were
mistaken in their belief regarding a fact; (2) the mistaken belief constituted a basic assumption
underlyingthe contract; (3) the mistake had amaterial effect on the bargain; and (4) the contract did
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not put therisk of the mistake on the party seeking reformation. Atlas Corp. v. United States, 895
F.2d 745, 750 (Fed. Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 811 (1990). Theerroneousbelief held by the
parties must relate to an existing fact. See Dairyland Power Coop. V. United States, 16 F.3d 1197,
1202 (Fed. Cir.1994). In addition, “a prediction or judgment regarding an event to occur in the
future, if erroneous, does not constitute a‘ mistake,” asthe term is contemplated within the doctrine
of mutual mistake of fact.” ECC Int’l v. United States, 43 Fed. Cl. 359, 371 (1999).

In the instant case, plaintiff’s mutual mistake claim fails as amatter of law on two counts.
First, even if the parties were mistaken, they were mistaken about a different fact. Plaintiff’s
Complaint aleges that GEGC was mistaken as to the reduction in its contract price, while the VA
was mistaken about performancewithin 700 days at the negotiated price. Compl. §167-68. The
claimfailsbecausetheallegationsdo not point to the same underlying material fact forming thebasis
of the bargain. Atlas Corp., 895 F.2d at 750. Second, the alleged mistake regarding the amount of
site congestion, or that the cost to perform was $900,000, or that performance would be compl eted
within 700 days, al relate to future events, not existing facts. As Atlas Corp. suggests, “[1]f the
existence of afact isnot known to the contracting parties, they cannot have abelief concerning that
fact; therefore, therecan beno ‘mistake.”” Id. These* predictionsor judgment[s] regarding an event
to occur in the future” are not sufficient to support a mutual mistake claim. ECC Int’l, 43 Fed. Cl.
at 371. Therefore, defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Count VI for failure to state aclam is also
granted.

IV. MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION
A. Negligent Misrepresentation

In Count IV, plaintiff alleges that the “[ G]overnment’ s misrepresentation asto the Contract
estimates, throughitsfailureto makecontractually required discl osures, wasbreach of the Contract.”
Compl. 1137. Similar to plaintiff’sother claims, the negligent misrepresentation count is based on
actions taken by the government, specifically the use of an alegedly defective estimae, in
negotiating the contract with the plaintiff. The government argues that plaintiff’s negligent
misrepresentation claim should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because: (1)
misrepresentation isatort over which thiscourt lacksjurisdiction; and (2) the claim failsasamatter
of law because plantiff unreasonably relied upon the estimate provided to the government. Plaintiff
responds that the law supportsitsreliance on the estimate, and that the negligent misrepresentation
claim is an exception to this court’s jurisdictional bar on torts because it involves an allegation of
atortious breach of contract.

The government correctly argues that as a genera rule this court does not have jurisdiction
over tort clamsagainst the United States. See 28 U.S.C. 8 149(a)(1). The Court of Claims, relying
on United States v. Neustadt, 366 U.S. 696 (1961), determined that claims*® sounding intort” include
those** based on negligent misrepresentation, wrongful inducement, or the carel ess performance of
aduty allegedly owed.”” Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. United States, 228 Ct. Cl. 146, 164 (1981).
The court, however, has recognized an exception to the general rule where dlaims are based on a
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“tortious breach” of agovernment contract. Morris v. United States, 33 Fed. Cl. 733, 742 (1995);
Summitt Contractors, Inc. v. United States, 22 Cl. Ct. 54, 56 (1990). The exception applies where
theplaintiff’ stort claimis*‘ entirely dependent on, and in fact evolvesfrom the contract.”” CTA Inc.
v. United States, 44 Fed. Cl. 684, 698 (1999) (quoting Dureiko v. United States, 42 Fed. Cl. 568, 582
(1998)). Therefore, the “relevant inquiry is whether there is a nexus between the alleged tortious
conduct and some alleged contractual obligation.” D.F.K. Enters., Inc. v. United States, 45 Fed. Cl.
280, 284 (1999).

In this case, GEGC argues that the government was under a contractual duty to disclose the
defective nature of the A& E estimate, and the government’s failure to disclose was a breach of
contract. Even assuming the government’s estimate was inaccurate, plaintiff’s negligent
misrepresentation claim must fail due to the fact that, as discussed supra Part [11.A., plaintiff’s
underlying claimed failed asamatter of law because the government was under no contractual duty
to disclose the estimate to the plaintiff. Assuch, there can be no nexus between the alleged tortious
conduct and acontractual obligation. Furthermore, the government arguesthat plaintiff’s negligent
mi srepresentati on claim must be di smissed because plaintiff isnot entitled to rely upon agovernment
estimate, whether negligent or illegd, that is not expressly incorporated into the contract.
Specificdly, the government points to Dakota Tribal Indus. v. United States, which held that a
negligent misrepresentation claim arising out of a contract cannot lie if the misrepresentation was
not expressly incorporated into the contract. 34 Fed. Cl. 295, 298-99 (1995). Here, asin Dakota
Tribal, the plaintiff must allege a connection between the government’ s misrepresentation and an
express contract term. Count IV fails to allege a connection between the defective estimate and an
express contract term. While plantiff implicitly suggests the contract price reflects the defective
estimate, thisis not a contract provision the government could breach, absent a failure to pay the
stated amount. See id. at 299 n.4. Accordingly, plaintiff’s negligent misrepresentation claim does
not fall within the exception to the jurisdictional bar to claims sounding in tort, and defendant’s
Motion to Dismiss Count 1V for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is granted.

B. Implied-in-Law Contract and Quantum Meruit Relief

Counts |, 111, and V of plaintiff’s Complaint assert an implied contract and seek quantum
meruit recovery, or specific money damages. The Complaint left for the Court to determine upon
which contract theory, implied-in-law or implied-in-fact, GEGC’ sclaimswere based. Asdiscussed
above, theimplied-in-fact contract claimsin Countsl, Il1, and V did not survive defendant’ smotion
to dismiss because the existence of an express contract superceded theimplied-in-fact contract. See
Medina Constr., 43 Fed. Cl. at 558. Therefore, the Court will briefly addressthe remaining implied
contract theory upon which relief could be granted.

A contract implied-in-law “isafiction created by the court” that “imposesaquasi-contractual
obligation on the partiesto bring about justice.” Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. United States, 26 Cl. Ct.
805, 817 (1992). The Court declines to reach the issue of whether an implied-in-law contract
existed, because the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that although this Court’s jurisdiction
extends to contracts implied-in-fact, it can not entertain claims on contracts implied-in-law.

14



Hercules, Inc. v. United States, 516 U.S. 417, 423 (1996); see also Merritt v. United States, 267 U.S.
338, 341 (1995); United States v. Mitchell, 463 U.S. 206, 218 (1983). As agenera rule, clams
sounding in guantum meruit are also outside this Court’ sjurisdiction.”> Medina Constr., 43 Fed. Cl.
at 557. GEGC complainsthat the“[G]overnment hasreceived thefull benefit of GEGC’ scompleted
performance of the Contract.” Compl. 115. "To the extent that [GEGC'’ 5] theory is based on a
theory of unjust enrichment, that doctrine assumes the existence of a contract implied-in-law. This
Court would have no jurisdiction over such aclam." Glopak Corp. v. United States, 12 Cl. Ct. 96,
104 n. 6 (1987), aff’'d, 851 F.2d 334 (Fed. Cir. 1988). Thus, a suit based on a theory of quantum
meruit OF unjust enrichment is a suit based on a contract implied-in-law, and this court does not
possessjurisdiction over such clams. See, e.g., United States v. Mitchell, 463 U.S. a 208; Fincke
v. United States, 230 Ct. Cl. 233, 246 (1982). Therefore, GEGC’ sremaining claimsin Countsl, I11,
and V seeking an implied-in-law contract and quantum meruit recovery also must be rejected.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above the Court GRANTS defendant’ sMotion to Dismissfor Failure
to State a Claim upon which Relief can be Granted and GRANTS defendant’ s Motion to Dismiss

for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. The Clerk of the Court is directed to dismissthe case, and
each party shall bear its costs.

It is so ORDERED.

LOREN A. SMITH,
Senior Judge

®> The Court acknowledges that the Federal Circuit has recognized that quantum meruit
recovery is available under an implied-in-fact contract in certain situations. United States v.
Amdahl Corp., 786 F.2d 387, 393 (Fed. Cir. 1983). Asstated in Part I11.B. of thisopinion,
however, GEGC’ simplied-in-fact contract clams must be rejected.
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